A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The court erroneously admitted evidence of the victim's 

character under ER 405. 

2. The court erroneously admitted evidence of appellant's bad 

acts under ER 404(b). 

3. The court erroneously admitted evidence of appellant's 

misconduct for the purpose of impeachment under ER 608. 

4. Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel. 

5. Cumulative error violated appellant's due process right to a 

fair trial. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. An important issue at trial was how appellant's DNA 

wound up under the deceased victim's fingernails. Is reversal required 

because the trial court wrongly allowed the State to rebut appellant's non

criminal explanation with improper evidence of the victim's character 

under ER 405? Is reversal alternatively required because defense counsel 

was ineffective in failing to properly object to this rebuttal evidence? 

2. The State wanted to show motive for the killing in order to 

convince the jury that appellant was guilty of murder. Is reversal required 

because the trial court wrongly admitted various pieces of evidence under 

ER 404(b) to show motive? 
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3. The State's case was circumstantial. Appellant testified on 

his own behalf and denied killing the victim. His credibility was at issue. 

Is reversal required because the trial court wrongly allowed the State to 

impeach appellant's credibility under ER 608 with uncharged acts of 

taking various pieces of property from the nursing home facility in which 

he worked? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural History 

The State charged Joseph Njonge with premeditated first degree 

murder. CP 1. A jury found him guilty of second degree murder as a 

lesser offense. CP 65. Njonge, who had no criminal history, received a 

standard range sentence of 200 months in confinement. CP 70, 72. This 

appeal timely follows. CP 67-68. 

2. Facts 

Jane Britt} was last seen alive on March 18, 2008 between 5 and 

6:30 p.m. when she walked out of a nursing home after visiting her 

husband, Frank Britt. 3RP 127, 151.2 Her husband was a resident of the 

facility. 3RP 52. She looked normal when she left. 3RP 127-28. 

} Jane Britt will be referred to as "Britt" in this brief. 
2 The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1 RP -
6/2/09; 2RP - 6/4/09; 3RP - 6/8/09; 4RP - 6/9/09; 5RP - 6/10/09; 6RP -
6/11109; 7RP - 6/15/09; 8RP - 7/20/09. 
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Family members began to look for Britt when she did not appear as 

expected the following morning. 2RP 14-16,21-25. They located her car 

in the nursing home parking lot. 2RP 22. The family called police later 

that day when Britt did not attend her usual visitation time at the facility. 

2RP 25-27. Family members discovered a wheelchair Britt used for her 

husband and her garage door opener discarded in the woods near the 

parking lot. 2RP 9-10, 28, 39-42, 45-48. 

Police arranged for the locked trunk of Britt's car to be opened 

later that day. 2RP 29,57; 3RP 28-29. Britt's body was inside. 2RP 5-6, 

30; 3RP 29. There were marks on her face and blood on her face and hair. 

3RP 31, 161, 167. She was clothed but her shoes were missing. 3RP 32. 

A pants pocket was inside out. 4RP 25, 150. Frank Britt's wallet was in 

the center console of the car; her wallet was in the door pocket of the 

driver's door. 4RP 153; 5RP 96. There were credit cards and other cards 

in both wallets. 4RP 156; 5RP 95-96. There were rings on her fingers and 

a watch on her hand. 4 RP 27, 151. Police did not find any fingerprints on 

Britt's car, the wheelchair or the garage door opener. 3RP 189-91. 

A King County medical examiner concluded the cause of death 

was asphyxia due to strangulation with blunt force injuries of head and 

neck. 4RP 30. Strangulation was by ligature. 4RP 31-32. The source of 
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the blunt injuries was unknown. 4RP 41. Her hands had scrapes and 

bruises; one hand had two broken fingernails. 4RP 53-56. These were 

possibly defensive type injuries. 4RP 56-57, 71. 

Searching for a suspect, police collected DNA samples from 

nursing home employees. 3RP 171-72; 5RP 65. Joseph Njonge was a 

nursing assistant at the facility. 3RP 141. He voluntarily gave a DNA 

sample. 6RP 112-13. A Washington State Patrol Crime Lab forensic 

scientist examined fingernail scrapings from Britt and obtained a full male 

profile. 5RP 103, 110-11. Njonge's DNA profile matched the male 

profile obtained from underneath Britt's fingernails. 5RP 127, 135-39. 

Njonge was arrested. 3RP 173-75. 

Njonge helped take care of Jane Britt's husband, Frank Britt. 3RP 

120; 6RP 64. He was Frank Britt's primary nurse assistant for the night 

shift and worked with him almost every day since July 2007. 6RP 74, 77-

78, 124. Nursing assistants are primarily responsible for the personal care 

of patients. 3RP 77. Duties include dressing, feeding, toileting, and 

moving patients. 3RP 77. 

Njonge came to know Jane Britt through caring for her husband. 

6RP 77. He saw her almost every day. 6RP 77-78. 

Njonge worked from 2:30 p.m. to 10:30 p.m. on March 18, the day 

on which Britt was last seen alive. 3RP 81. He was assigned to Frank 
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Britt for that shift. 3RP 119-20. He typically worked with seven or eight 

patients in total during a shift and he took care of multiple patients that 

day. 6RP 53, 69-71. 

Njonge testified Jane Britt scratched and ran her fingers through 

his hair while they tended to Frank Britt in his room. 6RP 110-11, 173-74. 

This was not an unprecedented gesture, as the two had grown close and 

become friends through the course of Njonge taking care of her husband 

every day. 6RP 111-12. 

The State's DNA expert testified the level of male DNA under 

Britt's fingernails indicated more than just a casual contact. 5RP 145. The 

State's expert acknowledged massaging someone's scalp or scratching 

someone would leave DNA underneath the fingernails. 5RP 174. The 

defense expert concurred on this point. 6RP 18,43. 

Njonge testified he last saw Britt at 5:20 p.m. on March 18 when 

she left the unit after visiting her husband. 6RP 78, 92, 132. He 

accounted for his activities at the nursing home that day. 6RP 92-106, 

125-31. He said he took a five-minute break before 4:30 p.m. 6RP 125-

26. He took out the trash around 10: 15 p.m., which took five minutes. 

6RP 130-31. He otherwise did not leave the facility during his shift. 6RP 

125-26, 130-31. He went home after his shift ended. 6RP 106-09. He 

denied killing Britt. 6RP 109. 
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Two other nursing assistants, Lorlina Aquino and Peter Kamini, 

worked the same shift in the same unit as Njonge on March 18. 3RP 140-

41, 145; 4RP 80. They all worked together to take care of patients. 3RP 

81. 

Aquino did not notice anything unusual about Njonge that night. 

3RP 147. She did not maintain visual contact with Njonge at every 

moment. 3RP 145-46. She did not know when Njonge took his breaks. 

3RP 144-45. 

Kamini did not notice anything unusual about Njonge that night 

other than he parked his car in a different spot than he usually did and 

requested Kamini to drive him to his car when their shift was over. 4RP 

87-92,96. He could not remember ifhe saw Njonge the entire time during 

the 6:00 dinner hour, but all nursing assistants were required to be in the 

dining room at that time to assist with feeding. 3RP 82. He did not 

remember when Njonge took his breaks that night. 3RP 83. They clocked 

out together at the end of the shift. 4RP 86. 

Nurse supervisor Sandra Colvin said Njonge was "distant" that 

night and did not socialize with her. 3RP 109-110, 124-25. Colvin did 

not see Njonge in the unit at all times. 3RP 121-22. She said Njonge took 

a break that night but she did not know when. 3 RP 115, 121. 
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Breaks were 15 minutes long. 3RP 103. The State argued 

Njonge's break time was evidence that he had opportunity to kill Britt. 

7RP 53. 

Nurse assistant Kamini did not notice any injuries on Njonge 

during the March 18 work shift. 4RP 89-91. When Njonge was arrested 

on April 3, an officer noticed faint marks on Njonge's left arm and neck, 

and a small healing injury on his thumb. 3RP 175-76. Njonge told a 

detective he received the thumb cut from a shoe polish container. 4RP 

106-07. Njonge testified it was a container for Frank Britt's shoes. 6RP 

114, 136. A detective testified he found a glass jar of shoe polish in Frank 

Britt's room with a "turn" lid. 7RP 18-20. 

Nursing assistant Christina Galletes testified Njonge wore a long 

sleeve shirt after March 18, but she could not remember the day he in fact 

did so. 4RP 124-26. Colvin testified Njonge wore long sleeves in the past 

but had not done so in the time period immediately before Britt's death. 

3RP 131, 139. Njonge testified he wore long sleeves when it was cold or 

he did not have a clean t-shirt to wear under his scrubs. 6RP 109-10. 

Colvin said Njonge polished his white shoes black around the time 

of Britt's death, but could not remember if that occurred before or after she 

was killed. 3RP 131-32. The State did not present any evidence that it 

tested those shoes. 
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Before Britt left the facility on March 18, nurse supervisor Colvin 

overheard Britt tell Njonge that there were belongings in Frank Britt's 

room that did not belong there. 3RP 128-29. Colvin did not wait to hear 

Njonge's verbal response but noticed he looked puzzled. 3RP 128. Britt 

did not look angry. 3RP 136. According to Njonge, Britt told him she 

found a pair of pants belonging to her husband's roommate in her 

husband's closet. 6RP 94-95, 140-41. 

The State acknowledged there was no clear motive for the killing. 

7RP 45-47, 67-68, 88. It theorized Njonge might have killed Britt due to 

complaints she made about him and concern that he might lose his job. 

lRP 22; 7RP 45-47,88. The State pointed to several pieces of evidence in 

support of this theory, which the trial court admitted over defense 

objection. CP 7, 10; Supp CP _ (sub no. 38, State's Trial Memorandum 

at 7-8, 6/1/09); lRP 6-23. 

First, the nursing home had an employee of the month program, in 

which employees were nominated for recognition. 3RP 83-84. The award 

is $100 and a gift certificate. 3 RP 84. A staff committee chose the winner 

after reviewing nomination forms. 3RP 95.96. 

In November 2007, Njonge was nominated as employee of the 

month at the nursing home. 3RP 85. Jane Britt's name was signed on the 

nomination form. 3RP 85. Njonge testified he was notified of winning in 
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November 2007 and was told Jane Britt and another employee had 

nominated him. 6RP 120. 

The State's handwriting expert examined the nomination form and 

samples of Britt's and Njonge's handwriting. 5RP 6, 18-20, 27-28. The 

expert concluded Britt did not write the nomination form. 5RP 20-21. 

Njonge could not be identified or excluded as the writer of the form; there 

were indications he may have been the writer. 5RP 28. In sum, Njonge 

"maybe" could have been the writer. 5RP 36. The expert conceded 

handwriting evaluations were a combination of art and science. 5RP 38. 

Njonge denied writing the nomination. 6RP 119. Njonge testified he 

thanked Britt for the nomination and could not remember her response. 

6RP 166-67. 

The second piece of motive evidence involved Frank Britt's teeth. 

4RP 132-35. In February 2008, Britt took her husband to the dentist. 4RP 

116. The hygienist noticed his dental health was not good and told Britt 

her husband needed help caring for his teeth at the nursing home. 4RP 

116-17. Britt reported this to a unit manager, expressing concern that staff 

was not properly caring for her husband's teeth. 4RP 132-34. The 

manager conveyed Britt's concern to the nurse aides, including Njonge. 

4RP 133. All the aides, including Njonge, maintained they were taking 

care of his teeth. 4RP 134-35. Njonge said he was not upset that Britt 

- 9-



complained. 6RP 134. He did not take it personally because day shift 

aides were supposed to brush teeth more frequently than the one time 

Njonge was supposed to do it on his shift. 6RP 162. Njonge and Jane 

Britt never discussed Frank Britt's teeth. 6RP 94. 

The third piece of motive evidence involved Njonge's possession 

of Frank Britt's Costco card, which police found in Njonge's wallet upon 

arrest. 3RP 174; 5RP 88. Njonge testified he took the card in the summer 

of 2007 to buy a television from Costco at a discount. 6RP 114-16. He 

did not tell Jane Britt he had the card. 6RP 149. Njonge knew he could 

get in trouble with his employer for having the card. 6RP 150. 

Over defense objection, the State sought to admit evidence that 

Njonge took various items from the nursing home. Supp CP _ (sub no. 

38, supra at 16); lRP 55-58, 60-61. The court admitted this evidence for 

impeachment purposes. 3RP 202-04. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE COURT'S IMPROPER ADMISSION OF 
CHARACTER EVIDENCE UNDER ER 405 UNFAIRLY 
INFLUENCED THE OUTCOME OF THE CASE. 

The court allowed the State to present improper evidence of Jane 

Britt's character to rebut Njonge's explanation for how his DNA wound up 

under Britt's fingernails. Reversal is required because there is a 
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reasonable probability admission of this evidence influenced the outcome. 

Alternatively, defense counsel was ineffective in failing to properly object. 

a. Standard of Review 

The correct interpretation of an evidentiary rule is reviewed de 

novo as a question of law. State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 

P.3d 119 (2003). The trial court's decision to admit evidence is reviewed 

for an abuse of discretion only if the trial court correctly interprets the rule. 

DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d at 17; State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 174, 

163 P.3d 786 (2007). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision 

is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. State ex reI. 

Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). Its decision is 

manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices, 

given the facts and the applicable legal standard. In re Marriage of 

Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 47, 940 P. 2d 1362 (1997). "The range of 

discretionary choices is a question of law and the judge abuses his or her 

discretion if the discretionary decision is contrary to law." State v. Neal, 

144 Wn.2d 600, 609, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001). Failure to adhere to the 

requirements of an evidentiary rule can thus be considered an abuse of 

discretion. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d at 174. 

- 11 -



b. The Court Allowed The State To Put On Evidence 
Of The Victim's Character To Rebut A Key 
Component Of The Defense Theory Of The Case. 

Njonge testified Jane Britt scratched and ran her hand through his 

hair the day before she was found dead. 6RP 110-11, 173-74. The DNA 

experts agreed scratching someone's scalp or skin could leave DNA 

deposit under the fingernails. 5RP 174; 6RP 18,43. 

To rebut Njonge's explanation for the presence of his DNA, the 

State sought to have Britt's granddaughter testify as to her grandmother's 

reserved character. 7RP 6. According to the State, Jane Britt "was not the 

type of woman who is touchy-feely. She did not run her hands through 

the hair of her grandkids. She didn't get down on the floor and play with 

the grandkids. She even sent her granddaughter to etiquette school when 

she was 12 years old." 7RP 6. The State argued such testimony was 

relevant in light ofNjonge's testimony that Britt ran her hands through her 

hair "on a regular basis," including the night when Britt was last seen,3 

"telling him that he had kinky hair." 7RP 6. The State maintained "if you 

are going to be affectionate like that with anybody, it is going to be your 

grandchild, and if not with your grandchild, it is very unlikely you are 

going to do that with somebody who is a third of your age or less who is a 

staff person working with your husband." 7RP 7-8. 

3 The State referred to March 19 but must have meant March 18. 7RP 6. 
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The State also sought to have nurse assistant supervisor Sandra 

Colvin testify she never saw Britt touch the staff and did not see that 

happen on the night of March 18. 7RP 6-7. 

Defense counsel moved to exclude testimony from the proposed 

"rebuttal witnesses." 7RP 6. Counsel referenced the granddaughter's 

testimony in objecting on the ground that it was vague, highly prejudicial, 

and of no substantive value. 7RP 5-6. The trial court recognized counsel 

was objecting to both witnesses. 7RP 7-8. 

The court described the granddaughter's testimony as presenting a 

general character trait for "reservedness." 7RP 8. The State responded 

"[t]hat may be," but reiterated it was relevant that Britt was not 

demonstrably affectionate with her own family. 7RP 8-9. 

The court admitted the granddaughter's testimony under ER 405(b), 

which states "[i]n cases in which character or a trait of character of a 

person is an essential element of a charge, claim, or defense, proof may 

also be made of specific instances of that person's conduct." 7RP 9-10. 

The court said the evidence was admissible to rebut "evidence of the 

specific actions or the character of the victim." 7RP 10. 

The court also admitted Colvin's proposed testimony: "Clearly, any 

of the testimony regarding her interactions with staff is relevant." 7RP 8. 
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As rebuttal witnesses, the granddaughter and Colvin testified consistent 

with the State's offer of proof. 7RP 21-23, 27-28. 

c. Evidence Of The Victim's Character Was 
Inadmissible Because The State Did Not Offer It In 
An Acceptable Form Of Proof. 

ER 404(a) provides in pertinent part: 

(a) Character Evidence Generally. Evidence of a person's 
character or a trait of character is not admissible for the 
purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a 
particular occasion, except: 

(2) Character of Victim. Evidence of a pertinent trait of 
character of the victim of the crime offered by an accused, 
or by the prosecution to rebut the same, or evidence of a 
character trait of peacefulness of the victim offered by the 
prosecution in a homicide case to rebut evidence that the 
victim was the first aggressor[.] 

ER 405 provides: 

(a) Reputation. In all cases in which evidence of character 
or a trait of character of a person is admissible, proof may 
be made by testimony as to reputation. On cross 
examination, inquiry is allowable into relevant specific 
instances of conduct. 
(b) Specific Instances of Conduct. In cases in which 
character or a trait of character of a person is an essential 
element of a charge, claim, or defense, proof may also be 
made of specific instances of that person's conduct. 

"Character evidence may be used circumstantially to show that a 

person acted consistently with that character." State v. Kelly, 102 Wn.2d 

188, 193, 685 P.2d 564 (1984). This use of character evidence to show 
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conformity is generally rejected under ER 404(a), subject to the 

exceptions listed in that rule. Kelly, 102 Wn.2d at 193. 

The State, in seeking admission of rebuttal testimony from the 

granddaughter and Colvin, premised its argument on the notion that Britt 

was not a "touchy feely" type of person. Under the State's theory, 

Njonge's explanation for how the DNA got under her nails simply could 

not have happened if Britt acted in conformity with her character. The 

State used the rebuttal witnesses to point to specific instances of Britt's 

conduct (i.e., reserved behavior) as the basis for its argument that Britt 

would have acted in conformity with that character on March 18 when she 

was alone with Njonge and her husband in a room. 

The State thus argued the granddaughter's testimony would show 

Britt was not a "touchy feely" type of person and thus would not have 

touched Njonge. 7RP 6. Colvin's testimony was also character evidence 

in the way it was used by the State. Colvin was not present when Njonge 

and Britt were in the husband's room on March 18, at which time the 

contact described by Njonge took place. Colvin did not personally 

observe their interaction at that crucial point in time. Colvin had no 

personal knowledge of that event. Instead, she testified she had not seen 

Britt touch other staff members at other times, including other times that 

day. 7RP 21-23. This is character evidence because its significance rests 
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on the notion that Britt would not have touched Njonge as he described if 

Britt acted in confonnity with her reserved behavior demonstrated on 

other occasions. 

The prosecutor presented this evidence to the jury in closing 

argument as character evidence. 7RP 62. In explaining why Njonge's 

explanation was "preposterous," the prosecutor explained the significance 

of the rebuttal testimony in tenns of Britt's character: "does it even make 

sense with what you know about Mrs. Britt?" 7RP 62. 

The issue here is whether the trial court erred in allowing 

admission of this character testimony by an unacceptable method of proof. 

"Rule 405 specifies the acceptable methods of proving character, 

assuming the character of a party or victim is admissible under Rule 

404(a)." 5A Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Evidence Law and 

Practice § 405.1 at 1 (5th ed. 2007). Character evidence can qualify under

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