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

the employee recognition form was forged. The court found both matters 

(as well as the dental care issue) relevant to and probative of motive. lRP 

14-15, 18-19. 

The court did not specifically mention prejudice or its balancing as 

to the Costco card, but clearly employed that standard, as it delayed ruling 

on the forged document until it could review the forensic document 

examiner's report, saying "I can't really make a finding that it's more 

probative than prejudicial or vice versa until" she was informed as to the 
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expert testimony. lRP 15. Only after she heard the details of the analysis 

and reviewed the report did she conclude that it was "more probative than 

prejudicial." lRP 17-18. At the same time, the court excluded evidence 

relating to a second form nominating Njonge, not bearing the purported 

signature of Jane Britt, illustrating that the court was carefully balancing 

the probative value of the evidence against possible unfair prejudice. 

lRP 19. 

While balancing on the record is required, imperfections in the 

record of that balancing do not require an appellate court to conclude that 

the evidence was admitted in error if the record is sufficient to permit 

meaningful review. State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 348-49, 150 P.3d 

59 (2006); State v. Repton, 113 Wn. App. 673, 688, 54 P.3d 233 (2002), 

rev. denied, 149 Wn.2d 1018 (2003). If the trial court has identified the 

purpose for which the evidence is relevant, the appellate court can weigh 

the probative value of the evidence against possible unfair prejudice. 

Repton, 113 Wn. App. at 688, citing State v. Jackson, 102 Wn.2d 689, 

694,689 P.2d 76 (1984). The court's findings in this case, with the 

context of the briefing and arguments of counsel, provide a complete 

record for review. 

Even if the court finds the record of balancing is inadequate, that 

error is harmless. Evidentiary errors under ER 404 are not of 
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constitutional magnitude, so they are harmless unless within reasonable 

probabilities the outcome of the trial would have been different if the error 

had not occurred. Jackson, 102 Wn.2d at 695. Washington courts have 

taken two different approaches to analyzing harmless error in failure to 

conduct required balancing on the record before admitting evidence: 

under the first, the error is harmless if the trial court would have admitted 

the evidence if it had properly conducted the balancing on the record; 

under the second, the court assumes that the evidence was improperly 

admitted, and determines whether the evidence affected the outcome 

within reasonable probabilities. State v. Russell, 104 Wn. App. 422, 

434-35, 16 P.3d 664 (2001) (in context of similar balancing required 

before admission ofER 609(b) evidence, citing cases). Under the first 

test, any error in the record of balancing by the trial court in this case is 

harmless because it is clear that the court made its ruling knowing and 

applying the correct legal standard, and would make the same rulings if 

more details of the balancing were on the record. 

If evidence is improperly admitted under ER 404(b), the error is 

harmless if there is no reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial 

would have been different if that error had not occurred. State v. Bowen, 

48 Wn. App. 187, 195, 738 P.2d 316 (1987) (citing State v. Robtoy, 98 

Wn. 2d 30, 42, 653 P.2d 284 (1982)). The danger of admitting prior acts 
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of misconduct is that the jury will convict because the defendant deserves 

to be punished for those other bad acts, or has a propensity to commit 

crimes, or because it believes that because the defendant committed the 

other bad acts, he must have committed this one. Bowen, 48 Wn. App. 

195-96. These dangers are acute when the prior acts are crimes similar to 

the charged crime. These dangers are not present in this case, where the 

prior acts involve possession of a Costco card and existence of a forged 

employee recognition form - those incidents are not inflammatory or 

violent and are not substantially likely to have swayed a jury to convict 

Njonge of murder because of repulsion for the prior acts. 

Further, even if evidence of possession of Frank Britt's Costco card 

had not been admitted in the State's case-in-chief, it would have been 

admissible as impeachment when Njonge testified, as were his possession 

of the credit card, diamond ring, and painting belonging to other patients. 

See Section C.3., infra. 

The ER 404(b) evidence relating to the Britt Costco card and the 

forged document played an insignificant role in relation to the guilty 

verdict on murder in the second degree. The central issue as to that charge 

was how a significant amount ofNjonge's DNA got under the tom, bloody 

fingernails of Jane Britt's body. The evidence was overwhelming that it 

was the DNA of her killer, with whom she fought before she died. 
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Njonge testified at trial that Jane Britt scratched his head with both 

hands while they were together in Frank Britt's bathroom, assisting Frank 

Britt, but he had never mentioned that to police when he was asked 

repeatedly how his DNA could have gotten under Jane Britt's fingernails. 

8RP 111, 179-80. Njonge also had told police that Jane Britt did not 

scratch, grab, or hug him. 8RP 177-83. 

The story that Jane Britt scratched Njonge's head was incredible 

for many reasons: because it is incredible to believe that such intimate 

contact would have occurred between two people with only a professional 

relationship; because ifit had occurred it would be memorable and Njonge 

earlier had repeatedly denied any contact; because the toileting issue was 

refuted by Frank Britt's medical records; and because Jane Britt did not 

touch staff at the nursing home and did not run her hands through the hair 

of even family members. 8RP 82-85, 176-84; 9RP 22-24, 28. 

Njonge's testimony as a whole was incredible for many other 

reasons as well. He admitted that he had taken four patients' property 

from the facility without permission, including pawning a patient's 

diamond ring. 8RP 146-49, 152, 154. Before Jane Britt's death, and thus 

necessarily before police questioned Njonge, he had lied in separate 

signed declarations at Garden Terrace stating that he had no knowledge of 

the missing diamond ring or of the painting that was later found in his 
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apartment. 9RP 32-34. Regarding the painting, he declared that he "never 

noticed it was missing." 9RP 34. His minimizations of the theft of those 

items were patently ridiculous. Njonge claimed that he was on a five-day 

vacation immediately before the employee recognition award, including 

details about the return trip making him late for work the day of the award, 

but employment records proved he worked the two days before the award. 

8RP 120, 164; 9RP 36-39. 

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence 

that Frank Britt's Costco card was in Njonge's wallet when he was 

arrested, that a form nominating Njonge for employee recognition 

contained Jane Britt's forged signature, and that Jane Britt complained that 

her husband was receiving inadequate dental care. They were properly 

admitted to prove motive for the murder. 

3. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED 
IMPEACHMENT OF NJONGE WITH EVIDENCE OF 
HIS THEFTS FROM OTHER RESIDENTS OF THE 
NURSING HOME. 

Njonge claims that three acts of theft should not have been ruled 

admissible for impeachment under ER 608(b), asserting that theft is not 

relevant to veracity and that the trial court was required to find that those 

thefts had occurred by a preponderance of the evidence before ruling that 
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the impeachment was permissible. Both of these premises are legally 

incorrect. As a result, the arguments on appeal are without merit. All 

three incidents were theft under Washington law. The court did not abuse 

its discretion in permitting impeachment on these thefts. 

a. Njonge Waived This Claimed Error By Failing To 
Raise It In The Trial Court. 

Njonge did not object to impeachment on these three thefts on the 

basis that thefts are not relevant to veracity or that the incidents had not 

occurred. Njonge initially objected on the basis that the evidence was 

outside ER 609, which involves impeachment with convictions, and 

because there was little probative value. lRP 56. Later he stated only 

"I know there was an issue, I believe, with the [608(a)] testimony, 

I believe the motion in limine ... " without identifying any issue. 5RP 202. 

Finally, it is not clear that he has any objection to the court's ruling as to 

admissibility when the issue is raised again, although a statement that 

"I have no issues" may refer to the wording of a possible limiting 

instruction. 7RP 182. Njonge ultimately declined a limiting instruction 

related to this evidence. 8RP 208-10. 

The initial objection and later remarks by defense counsel on the 

topic of ER 608 are not sufficient to preserve alleged error based on a 
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different ground. Mason, 160 W n.2d at 933. A claim of error may be 

raised for the first time on appeal only if it is a "manifest error affecting a 

constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 

333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Because any error in the ruling as to proper 

topics for impeachment would be evidentiary error only, Njonge has 

waived any review ofthat claimed error. State v. Davis, 141 Wn.2d 798, 

849-50, 10 P.3d 977 (2000). 

b. Theft Is A Crime That Is Relevant To Veracity 
Under Washington Law. 

Njonge relies on State v. Cummings, 44 Wn. App. 146, 721 P.2d 

545, rev. denied, 106 Wn.2d 1017 (1986), for the proposition that theft is 

not relevant to veracity and so inquiry as to an act of theft is not 

permissible under ER 608(b). 6 In turn, Cummings relied upon State v. 

Harper7, in which the Court of Appeals concluded that dishonesty was not 

relevant to veracity and State v. Burton8, in which the Supreme Court had 

6 ER 608(b) provides that specific instances of misconduct of a witness other than 
conviction of a crime "may, in the discretion of the court, if probative of truthfulness or 
untruthfulness, be enquired into on cross-examination of the witness (1) concerning the 
witness' character for truthfulness or untruthfulness .... " 

7 35 Wn. App. 855, 861, 670 P.2d 296 (1983), rev. denied, 100 Wn.2d 1035 (1984). 

8 101 Wn.2d 1,7,676 P.2d 975 (1984). 
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held that a conviction for theft was not relevant to veracity. 9 Cummings, 

44 Wn. App. at 152. 

However, that holding of Burton was overruled by the Supreme 

Court in State v. Ray, 116 Wn.2d 531,543-44,806 P.2d 1220 (1991). The 

Court in Ray held that theft is a crime of dishonesty that is per se 

admissible for impeachment under ER 609(a)(2). Id. at 545. The Court 

noted that crimes of theft are universally regarded as reflecting adversely 

on a person's honesty and integrity. Id. It reasoned that the purpose of 

impeachment evidence is to enlighten the jury as to the credibility of a 

witness and that purpose is met by allowing admissibility of prior 

convictions involving dishonesty. Id. 

As the Supreme Court has concluded that a prior conviction for 

theft is per se admissible as to the credibility of a witness, an act of theft is 

admissible for that purpose as well. 

Moreover, the thefts at issue were particularly relevant to Njonge's 

veracity because he lied to the police about the thefts (claiming no 

knowledge of them) during the course of this investigation. 8RP 116-18, 

151-58. 

9 The court also relied on State v. Sellers, 39 Wn. App. 799, 695 P.2d 1014, rev. denied, 
103 Wn.2d 1036 (1985), which found a prior suicide attempt not relevant to veracity. 

- 36 -
1008-22 Njonge eOA 



c. The Three Thefts Used As Impeachment Were 
Theft Under Washington Law. 

Njonge offers no authority for the proposition that a party may not 

cross-examine as to a prior instance of misconduct under ER 608(b) unless 

the trial court has found by a preponderance of the evidence that the act 

occurred. The only requirement for questioning as to a prior instance of 

misconduct under 608(b) is a good faith basis for the inquiry. State v. 

Johnson, 90 Wn. App. 54, 71, 950 P.2d 981 (1998). 

The trial court stated that she understood that there was no dispute 

that Njonge was in possession of the residents' property, and defense 

counsel did not contradict that statement. 5RP 202-04. Before the 

prosecutor asked any questions on the subject, Njonge testified that with 

respect to the diamond ring, the debit card, and the painting, he took the 

property from the nursing home. 8RP 116-18. After that testimony, 

certainly the prosecutor had a good faith basis to believe that he had 

committed theft of those items. Despite the rationalization of the thefts by 

Njonge during his testimony and the endorsement of those excuses on 

appeal, the taking of each item was theft under Washington law. 

Njonge asserts that he found the diamond ring in a shower room at 

the nursing home and did not know to whom it belonged. App. Br. at 48. 

Even if that were true, appropriation of lost property is theft. RCW 
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9A.56.020(1)( c). Njonge did not inform staff at the nursing home that he 

had found the ring - instead, he pawned it, as he admitted at trial. 8RP 

157-58. Further, after the ring went missing, employees were asked about 

it, and Njonge signed a declaration on March 4, 2008, stating that he knew 

nothing about it. 9RP 32-34. 

Njonge asserts that he thought the debit card that he took had been 

abandoned by another patient after that patient had checked out of the 

facility. App. Br. at 48. However, the patient testified that the card was 

taken while the patient was still living at the facility, at a point when the 

patient began to be able to take trips outside the facility. 9RP 14. 

Njonge admitted at trial that he had taken many paintings from 

residents' rooms without permission, including the painting police found 

in his apartment. 8RP 118-19, 152-54. Njonge claims on appeal that 

these takings were not theft because he did not intend to permanently 

deprive the owners of the paintings. App. Br. at 47. Intent to permanently 

deprive an owner of the property is not an element of theft-theft requires 

only intent to deprive the owner of the property. RCW 9A.56.020(1); 

State v. Komok, 113 Wn.2d 810, 816-17, 783 P.2d 1061 (1989). Taking 

the paintings from the rooms in which residents were living certainly 

deprived them of that property. Further, after the painting went missing, 

employees were asked about it, and Njonge signed a declaration on March 
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8,2008, stating that he knew nothing about it, more specifically, that he 

"never noticed it was missing." 9RP 32-34. 

These acts all were theft and Njonge's lies about having knowledge 

of the items stolen make it quite clear that he knew it. The thefts and 

Njonge's lies about them were relevant to his veracity. 

4. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR 
FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE FORM OF REBUTTAL 
EVIDENCE THAT WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED. 

Njonge claims that evidence that Jane Britt was not physically 

demonstrative with her family or with staff at the nursing home was 

character evidence that should have been admitted only in the form of 

reputation. That claimed error was waived by failure to raise it in the trial 

court. Defense counsel's failure to object on that basis was not deficient 

performance because the evidence was not character evidence and it was 

properly admitted to rebut Njonge's story that Jane Britt habitually ran her 

fingers through his hair, and scratched his head the day she was killed. The 

failure to object to the form of the questions also was not prejudicial, because 

the trial court opined that the evidence was character evidence and ruled that 

specific instances of conduct of the victim were admissible, so it is apparent 

that any objection would have been overruled. Further, Njonge does not 

contend that the substance of the evidence was not admissible and can only 
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speculate that the State would have been unable to meet any foundation 

requirements. 

a. Njonge Waived This Claimed Error By Failing To 
Raise It In The Trial Court. 

Njonge did not object to the rebuttal testimony of Jane Britt's 

granddaughter, Sarah Crass, or Njonge's coworker, Sandra Colvin, on the 

basis that it was character evidence or on the basis of improper foundation 

under ER 405. He did not object to the testimony of Colvin on any basis. 

9RP 5-7. Njonge objected at trial only to the relevance and prejudicial 

nature of the rebuttal testimony of Crass. 9RP 5-6. That objection does 

not preserve alleged error based on a different ground. Mason, 160 Wn.2d 

at 933. 

A claim of error may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it 

is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); State 

v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Because any 

error in the form of the testimony of Crass or Colvin would be evidentiary 

error only, Njonge has waived any review of that claimed error. State v. 

Davis, 141 Wn.2d 798, 849-50, 10P.3d 977 (2000). 
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b. Njonge Has Not Established That The Failure To 
Object Was Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel. 

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Njonge must show

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